## **Statement of Jurisdiction**

This is an appeal from a July 13, 2022, final order denying the appeal of *American Federation of Government Employees, AFL-CIO Local 631 v. D.C. Office of Labor Relations and Collective Bargaining, et. al*, PERB Case No. 22-N-02, *Opinion* 1804 (Dec. 21, 2021), of the D.C. Public Employee Relations Board (PERB), by the American Federation of Government Employees, AFL-CIO Local 631 (Local 631), J.A. 5-7. All matters before the Superior Court were disposed of by the July 13, 2022, order.

## **Statement of Issues**

1. Whether the court committed an error of law by affirming the opinion of PERB, which held the District of Columbia (District) based upon Mayor's Order 2021-099 and the Comprehensive Merit Personnel Act (CMPA), D.C. Code § 1-617.08(a)(6) had the authority to unilaterally impose a vaccine mandate on employees, without bargaining with the Union.
2. Whether the COVID-19 Emergency Response Act of 2020, D.C. Code § 7-2304(b)(16) amended the management rights provision of D.C. Code § 1-617.08(a)(6) to permit unilateral action in an emergency.

## **Statement of the Case**

This is an appeal of the July 13, 2022, order of Judge Hiram Puig-Lugo

affirming PERB *Opinion* 1804, granting the District the authority to, unilaterally, impose a vaccination mandate for employees, subject to the supervision of the Mayor of the District of Columbia, based upon the COVID-19 Emergency Response Act of 2020 and D.C. Code § 1-617.08(6), without bargaining with Local 631. The July 13, 2022 order held PERB's decision to classify the vaccination, as an emergency under D.C. Code § 1-617.08(a)(6) was not unreasonable J.A. 11-2.<sup>1</sup> Judge Puig-Lugo held, based upon Mayor's Order 2021-099, the vaccination requirement was in accordance with law, *id.* On August 9, 2022 Local 631 filed a motion to reconsider the July 13, 2022, Order, J.A. 4. On August 15, 2022, Judge Puig-Lugo dismissed the motion to reconsider, ruling the court lacked jurisdiction, because of the filing of the notice of appeal, *id.*

### **Statement of Facts**

On October 18, 2021, Local 631 filed the " Union's Negotiability Appeal" with PERB, stating 12 proposals of Local 631 had been declared nonnegotiable by the District, J.A.. 13-28. Local 631's negotiability appeal was filed, based upon PERB Rule 532, which requires a party file an appeal, when a proposal is declared nonnegotiable, in writing, during negotiations, J.A. 13.

During negotiations, the District asserted the vaccination requirement, for

---

<sup>1</sup> The July 13, 2022 Order held, in error, the standard of review applied was for PERB standard of conduct complaints, J.A. 11.

employees, was subject to impact and implementation bargaining, based upon management rights to determine security practices, to determine efficiency of operations, and to take necessary actions during an emergency, as set forth in D.C. Code 1-617.08 (a)( 4), (5)(D) and (6), J.A. 41-2, 44-5.

On July 24, 2021, the Mayor issued Executive Order 2021-096 ending the public health emergency, on July 25, 2021, J.A. 69-72

On November 2, 2021, the District filed a response to the negotiability appeal, stating the vaccination requirement was the exercise of management rights, subject to impact and implementation bargaining, based upon D.C. Code 1-617.08 (a)( 4), (5)(D) and (6), J.A. 43-4.

On December 21, 2021, the Board dismissed the negotiability appeal stating:

"D.C. Superior Court recently interpreted the COVID-19 Response Emergency Amendment Act of 2020, finding that the legislation "gives management the sole right to take any necessary personnel action in emergency situations," "notwithstanding" any contradictory provision of the CMPA. The court held that management has "flexible, expansive, open-ended authority" to take the actions necessary to ensure an effective response to the COVID-19 emergency. The court found that such management actions were not subject to bargaining, even over impact and effects [citations omitted].

*Opinion* 1804, J.A. 6.

PERB held, "Relying on the Superior Court's ruling in *OLRCB v. PERB*, the Board finds that the Agencies have the management right to unilaterally effectuate the Vaccination Requirements. . . .," *id.*

On July 13, 2022, Judge Puig-Lugo affirmed the PERB ruling finding *Opinion*

1804 was ". . . supported by substantial evidence under the CMPA. . .; \* \* \* PERB has exclusive jurisdiction over standards of conduct complaints; \* \* \* the health pandemic was an emergency; \* \* \* and the Board's decision was in accordance with law," *July 13, 2022, Order*, J.A. 11-2.

Local 631, in the petition for review, requested *Opinion* 1804 be reversed because the COVID-19 Emergency Amendment Act did not include a vaccination requirement, as a unilateral action the District could take; the District did not assert management had a unilateral right to impose a vaccination requirement; the decision in *D.C. Office of Labor Relations and Collective Bargaining v. D.C. Public Employee Relations Board*, No. 003086 P(MPA) ( D.C. Super. Ct. September 29, 2021) authorized unilateral action for the specific actions listed; and PERB erroneously applied the ruling in *OLRCB. v. D.C. PERB*, J.A. 86-9.

In answer to the petition for review, PERB stated the decision in *OLRCB. v. D.C. PERB* combined with D.C. Code § 1-617.08(a)(6) gave the District broad authority to take actions, during an emergency and the vaccination requirement could be mandated, without bargaining with Local 631, J.A. 94.

In response to the petition for review, the District stated the vaccination requirement was a management right under D.C. Code § 1-617.08(a)(6), subject to impact and implementation bargaining; the vaccination requirement was included in the assigning of duties, as an obligatory task, under D.C. Code § 7-2304(b)(16)(G); Mayor's Order 2021-099 was an applicable law; and the vaccination requirement was

a management right in furtherance of government efficiency and internal security practices, J.A. 110-14.

Local 631's reply brief stated the public emergency had ended on July 25, 2021; no public emergency existed on August 10, 2021; and no statutory authority existed for the Mayor to impose a vaccination mandate, J.A. 119-120.

### **Summary of the Argument**

The Mayor of the District does not have authority to require a vaccination requirement for employees, because a vaccination requirement must be enacted by a legislature. No statutory authority existed for a vaccination requirement for District employees.

A statute must be given its ordinary plain meaning. The Comprehensive Merit Personnel Act was not amended by the COVID-19 Response Emergency Act.

### **Standard of Review**

In reviewing a decision of an administrative agency, the court examines the factual findings, to determine whether the findings are supported by substantial evidence and not clearly erroneous as a matter of law, *Doctors Council of D.C. General Hospital v. D.C. Public Employee Relations Board*, 914 A.2d 682, 695 (D.C. 2007), *aff'd. Fraternal Order of Police, Dep't of Corrections Labor Committee v. D.C. Public Employee Relations Board*, 973 A.2d 174, 176 (D.C. 2009). The court will defer to the administrative agency on legal issues, unless the interpretation is unreasonable, in light of prevailing law or inconsistent with the statutes, *Doctors*

*Council*, 914 A.2d 695-6. An administrative determination showing a misconception of the relevant law or a faulty application of the law cannot be affirmed, *id.* The judiciary is the final authority for interpretation of the Comprehensive Merit Personnel Act (CMPA), *American Federation of Government Employees, National Office v. D.C. Public Employee Relations Board*, 237 A.3d. 81, 87 (D.C. 2020).

## **Argument**

### **A Vaccination Requirement Must Be Enacted By A Legislature**

The D.C. Public Emergency Act of 1980, D.C. Code § 7-2301 et. seq. governs emergency actions, in the District of Columbia government. The District of Columbia Home Rule Act, sets out the powers and duties of the Mayor and the D.C. Council, D.C. Code §§ 1-204.12 and 1-204.22. D.C. Code §1-204.12 reserves to the D.C. Council the right to enact emergency legislation, *District of Columbia v. Washington Home Ownership Council*, 415 A.2d. 1349, 1351-2 (D.C. 1980). D.C. Code § 7-2304 provides authority, to the Mayor of the District, to issue orders to regulate public emergencies and outlines the scope and actions, which may be taken by the Mayor. Subsection 7-2304(b) outlines specific actions permitted to be taken by the Mayor. Emergency executive orders, of the Mayor, expire after fifteen days, unless emergency legislation is adopted by the D.C. Council, D.C. Code § 7-2306(a) and (b).

On March 17, 2020, the D.C. Council enacted emergency legislation to address the coronavirus pandemic, the COVID-19 Response Emergency Amendment Act of

2020, declaring a public emergency in the District of Columbia. The COVID-19 Response Emergency Act amended subsection 7-2304(b), by adding a new subparagraph (16), which listed specific actions the Mayor was authorized to take, during the coronavirus public emergency, notwithstanding the requirements and rules of the CMPA. The actions listed included redeploying employees, modifying tours of duty and places of duty, mandating telework, extending and assigning shifts, providing meals or requiring employees to work without a meal break, assigning additional duties, extending terms of employees, hiring new employees, eliminating annuity offsets, and denying leave and rescinding previously approved leave.

On July 24, 2021, the Mayor declared the public health emergency would end on July 25, 2021, J.A. 69. On August 10, 2021, the Mayor issued an order requiring coronavirus vaccination, for all employees under the supervision of the Mayor, J.A. 29-34. Employees were required to be vaccinated, report their vaccination status, or required to have an exemption, *id.* Failure of an employee to comply with the vaccination requirement would result in discipline up to and including termination, *id.* After the issuance of the Mayor's Order for vaccination, no legislation was enacted by the City Council requiring a vaccination requirement, for District employees.

*National Federation of Independent Business, et. al v. Dept. of Labor Occupational Health and Safety Administration, et.al*, 595 U.S. \_\_\_, 142 S.Ct. 661, 665 (2022), rejected a nationwide coronavirus vaccination mandate for employers,

stating, COVID-19 is not an occupational hazard, but a universal hazard which the general public faces, on a day to day basis, and a vaccination cannot be undone. The Court allowed a vaccine mandate would be permissible, where a particular job or workplace presented special dangers, *id. Fraternal Order of Police, Metropolitan Police Dept. Labor Committee, et.al v. District of Columbia, et.al*, No. 000584, (D.C. Super. Ct. August 25, 2022), granted summary judgment, in favor of the Fraternal Order of Police, ruling the COVID-19 Response Emergency Act did not grant authority to the Mayor of the District of Columbia to impose a vaccination requirement; ruling the authority to take unilateral actions under D.C. Code § 7-2304(b)(16) expired on February 4, 2022; ruling no part, of the 1980 Public Emergency Act, D.C. Code §7-2304, authorized imposition of a vaccination mandate; ruling no part of the 1980 Public Emergency Act authorized the taking of unilateral actions in an emergency ; ruling only a legislative body can enact a vaccination mandate; and no statute of the District of Columbia authorized a vaccination mandate and the taking of unilateral actions during an emergency, *id.*, J.A. 139-48. On September 14-15, 2022, the District rescinded the coronavirus vaccination requirements, for employees and discontinued disciplinary actions, for failure to comply with vaccination requirements, J.A. 121-4.

The vaccination requirement issued, on August 10, 2021, was not supported by any statutory authority, at the time of issuance. The July 13, 2022, order, which held the action of PERB was taken in accordance with the law, was in error. PERB, in



*Opinion* 1804, held the COVID-19 Response Emergency Act and D.C. Code § 1-617.08(a)(6) granted the District the authority to unilaterally impose a vaccination mandate, J.A. 6. The COVID-19 Response Emergency Act did not include any authority for a vaccination requirement and the management rights provision does not permit unilateral action, by the District. The District, before PERB and in its response to the petition for review, conceded the management rights provisions required impact and implementation bargaining, J.A. 42, 110.

The July 13, 2022, order upholding *Opinion* 1804 is an error of law, because no statutory authority existed for the issuance of a vaccination requirement and the Mayor had no authority, after the expiration of the public emergency to order vaccination of District employees. Local 631 was entitled to impact and implementation bargaining for the vaccination requirement. The July 13, 2022 order should be reversed; *Opinion 1804* should be reversed and the case remanded to PERB with direction to reverse *Opinion 1804*.

### **A Statute Cannot Be Amended By Implication**

The D.C. Council enacted the COVID-19 Response Emergency Act, to address the coronavirus pandemic. In passing the legislation, the Council gave the Mayor specific enumerated powers, which could be taken for District employees under the supervision of the Mayor. D.C. Code § 7-2304(b)(16) stated:

Notwithstanding any provision of the District of Columbia

Comprehensive Merit Personnel Act of 1978 (D.C. Law 2-139, D.C. Official Code § 1-601.01 *et. seq.*)(“CMPA) or the rules issued pursuant to the CMPA, . . .or any other personnel law or rules, the Mayor may take the following personnel actions regarding executive branch subordinate agencies that the Mayor determines necessary and appropriate to address the emergency:

- (A) Redeploying employees within or between agencies;
- (B) Modifying employees' tours of duty;
- (C) Modifying employees' places of duty;
- (D) Mandating telework;
- (E) Extending shifts and assigning additional shifts;
- (F) Providing appropriate meals to employees required to work overtime or work without meal breaks;
- (G) Assigning additional duties to employees;
- (H) Extending existing terms of employees;
- (I) Hiring new employees into the Career, Education, and Management Supervisory Services without competition;
- (J) Eliminating any annuity offsets established by any law; or
- (K) Denying leave or rescinding approval of previously approved leave.

The plain language of the COVID-19 Response Emergency Amendment Act does not state any intent to amend the Comprehensive Merit Personnel Act and authorizes the taking of the specific listed personnel actions. *OLRCB v. PERB*, No. 003086 held:

[T]he plain language of the statute removes the personnel actions *listed* [my emphasis] in § 7-2304(b)(16) from the scope of the CMPA and relieves petitioners of any obligation under the CMPA to bargain impact and effects of these management decisions. . . . The Court agrees with petitioners . . . because the statute whose interpretation is at issue is not the CMPA but the COVID Emergency Act. . . . [B]ecause the COVID Emergency Act unambiguously makes the CMPA inapplicable when

management takes the personnel actions specified in §7-2304(b)(16) to address an emergency. . . .

*O.L.R.C.B. v. D.C. P.E.R.B.* J.A. 128.

In interpreting the application of a statute, the court examines the plain meaning of the statutory provisions, reading the literal words, in light of the statute taken as a whole, to assure a sensible construction and not work an obvious injustice, *District of Columbia v. Gallagher*, 734 A. 2d. 1087, 1091 (D.C. 1999), *aff'd Expedia, Inc. v. District of Columbia*, 120 A.3d. 623, 630 (D.C. 2015). The language, in the COVID-19 Response Emergency Act, states the listed actions may be taken by the Mayor. It is unreasonable to expand the language to assert D.C. Code § 1-617.08(a)(6) was amended to authorize any and all actions, the Mayor takes in an emergency. The court made clear in *OLRCB, supra.*, the interpretation was limited to the COVID-19 Response Emergency Act and not the CMPA. The July 13, 2022, order upholding PERB's interpretation of the CMPA is unreasonable and an error of law. The application of the COVID-19 Response Emergency Act to D.C. Code § 1-617.08(a)(6) is not based upon any reasonable reading of the emergency legislation. PERB's expansion of the emergency authority of the management rights provision is not a sensible construction of the emergency legislation. A vaccination requirement cannot fall within any of the enumerated actions, listed in the emergency legislation. The District put forth an argument, in its response to the petition, the vaccination requirement falls within Subparagraph 7-2304(b)(16)(G), assignment of additional

duties J.A. 112. Such a reading requires a contortion of the meaning of the plain language. A vaccination requirement cannot be considered a duty of an employee's position. The Council intended the Mayor to have authority over the employee's performance of their work for the District and not the employee's personal health concerns.

The July 13, 2022, order and *Opinion* 1804 are not supported by any reasonable meaning of the COVID-19 Response Emergency Act and the CMPA. The interpretation of the CMPA to require unilateral implementation of all management rights in an emergency is unreasonable, a misconception of the law, and cannot be affirmed. The July 13, 2022, order and *Opinion* 1804 should be reversed and the case remanded to PERB with direction to reverse *Opinion* 1804.

## Conclusion

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