#### No. 22-CV-605

#### IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Received 06/08/2023 03:18 PM

AMERICAN FEDERATION OF GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES, APLO (23 03:18 PM LOCAL 631, APPELLANT,

V.

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA PUBLIC EMPLOYEE RELATIONS BOARD; DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA OFFICE OF LABOR RELATIONS AND COLLECTIVE BARGAINING, APPELLEES.

> ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

### BRIEF FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA OFFICE OF LABOR RELATIONS AND COLLECTIVE BARGAINING

BRIAN L. SCHWALB Attorney General for the District of Columbia

CAROLINE S. VAN ZILE Solicitor General

ASHWIN P. PHATAK Principal Deputy Solicitor General

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. This Court should dismiss this appeal as moot. AFGE has preserved only one claim for appeal: whether the District was required to engage in "impact and effects" bargaining. Now that the vaccine-or-test requirement has been lifted and the COVID Emergency Act has expired, there is no live controversy regarding the that obligation.

Nor is this issue capable of repetition yet evading review. Whether the District was required to engage in "impact and effects" bargaining rests on whether the COVID Emergency Act authorized the Mayor to issue the vaccine requirement. PERB interprets the Act as broadly authorizing the action, while AFGE urges a narrower construction of the Act. But the Act has expired, as has the vaccine mandate. Even if it is reasonable to assume that a new global pandemic could lead the Mayor to issue a similar order, it is not reasonable to assume that the Council would enact emergency legislation containing the exact same language.

Alternatively, this issue is moot because the District has already provided AFGE the only relief that this Court could award. AFGE demands "impact and effects" bargaining, but AFGE rejected such bargaining when it was offered by the District. Even if this Court were to adopt AFGE's interpretation of the COVID Emergency Act, its ruling would have no effect on the rights of AFGE or the District.

2. Alternatively, if this Court chooses to reach AFGE's forfeited claim for full, substantive bargaining, it should affirm PERB's holding that the District had a sole management right to implement the vaccine-or-test requirement because it was necessary to carry out the District's mission an emergency situation. The COVID-19 pandemic was indisputably an emergency throughout the time the vaccine requirement was in effect, and PERB had ample reason to find that it was necessary to protect employees and the public as District employees returned to the workplace.

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. The Sole Claim AFGE Has Preserved For Appeal Should Be Dismissed As Moot Because It Rests On An Expired Statute And, In Any Event, The District Has Already Provided The Relief AFGE Pursues.
  - A. AFGE has preserved only one claim: whether the District was required to engage in "impact and effects" bargaining.

PERB's decision contains two rulings. *First*, it held that the District was not required to engage in substantive bargaining because the CMPA grants the District a sole management right to "take whatever actions may be necessary to carry out the mission of the District government in emergency situations." JA 6 (quoting D.C. Code § 1-617.08(a)(6)). *Second*, PERB held that the District was not required to engage in "impact and effects" bargaining because the COVID Emergency Act authorized the vaccine-or-test requirement "notwithstanding" the typical bargaining requirements of the CMPA. JA 6 (quoting D.C. Code § 7-2304(b)(16)).

AFGE has forfeited any challenge to PERB's first ruling. Although it originally asked PERB to hold that the vaccine-or-test requirement was subject to full, substantive bargaining, AFGE forfeited its right to challenge PERB's denial of that claim by failing to raise it in the Superior Court, see Dupree v. D.C. Dep't of Corr., 132 A.3d 150, 157 (D.C. 2016), or this Court, see Comford v. United States, 947 A.2d 1181, 1188 (D.C. 2008). In the Superior Court, AFGE challenged only PERB's holding that the COVID Emergency Act authorized the District to "unilaterally" implement the vaccine requirement without engaging in "impact and

effects" bargaining.<sup>3</sup> See JA 82-89, 118-20. AFGE argued that the District had never disputed its duty to engage in this limited type of bargaining, see JA 86-87, and had in fact "invited" the unions to participate in such bargaining, JA 118-19. But when the parties asked PERB to determine "whether the vaccination requirement was subject to full bargaining or subject to impact and implementation bargaining," JA 87, PERB went beyond that question and held that the District need not even engage in "impact and effects" bargaining. JA 86-89. AFGE did not, in any of its Superior Court filings, claim a right to substantive bargaining over the vaccine requirement. See JA 82-90, 118-20. At that point, AFGE had forfeited any right to seek substantive bargaining in this appeal. See Dupree, 132 A.3d at 157.

AFGE's brief in this Court likewise claims only that AFGE "was entitled to impact and implementation bargaining." Br. 9. In support of that claim, it makes two arguments. Despite the title of its first argument—"A Vaccination Requirement Must Be Enacted By A Legislature," Br. 6—AFGE does not actually assert that the Mayor lacked authority to issue the vaccine-or-test requirement. See Br. 6-9.

Throughout its brief, AFGE uses the word "unilateral" to describe an action taken without *any* collective bargaining, even over "impact and effects." *See*, *e.g.*, Br. 4 (noting that the District "did not assert that management had a unilateral right to impose a vaccine requirement" but instead conceded that the vaccine requirement was "subject to impact and implementation bargaining").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This heading appears to arise from a Supreme Court decision staying an emergency order issued by the U.S. Occupational Safety and Health Administration

Instead, it argues that the *COVID Emergency Act* "did not include any authority for vaccine requirement" and that the CMPA's "management rights provisions" require "impact and implementation bargaining." Br. 8-9. Thus, AFGE argues, it "was entitled to impact and implementation bargaining for the vaccination requirement." Br. 9.

AFGE's second argument—titled "A Statute Cannot Be Amended By Implication"—similarly pursues only "impact and effects" bargaining. Br. 9. This portion of AFGE's brief is based entirely on the COVID Emergency Act, which AFGE argues does not authorize a vaccine-or-test requirement and thus did not relieve the District of its obligation under the CMPA to engage in "impact and effects" bargaining. Br. 11 (citing D.C. Code § 1-617.08(a)(6)).

\_

<sup>(&</sup>quot;OSHA") requiring *private* employers to impose a vaccine requirement. *See* Br. 7-8 (citing *Nat'l Fed'n of Indep. Bus. v. OSHA*, 142 S. Ct. 661, 665 (2022)). But while the Court declined to "expand OSHA's regulatory authority without clear congressional authorization," *Nat'l Fed'n of Indep. Bus.*, 142 S. Ct. at 665, AFGE does not argue that the Mayor lacked authority to impose the vaccine requirement on her own workforce, *even if she engaged in collective bargaining*.

AFGE's brief suggests that the vaccine requirement expired after 15 days because the Council did not, within that time, adopt emergency legislation ratifying it. Br. 6 (citing D.C. Code § 7-2306(a) to (b)). Any such claim is forfeited because AFGE did not raise it before PERB or in the Superior Court. See JA 13-28, 82-90, 118-20; Dupree, 132 A.3d at 157. Instead, AFGE's negotiability appeal necessarily assumed that the CMPA authorized the Mayor to issue the vaccine requirement, and a contrary claim would have conflicted with AFGE's claim of entitlement to collective bargaining over the (presumably lawful) personnel action.

To the extent that AFGE is attempting to argue that the vaccine-or-test mandate was *substantively* unauthorized or illegal—which was not the subject of any of the bargaining-related proceedings below—that claim comes far too late. It is black-letter law in administrative appeals that all legal issues must first be raised before the relevant administrative agency. *See Black v. D.C. Dep't of Hum. Servs.*, 188 A.3d 840, 847 (D.C. 2018). AFGE thus has forfeited any such argument twice over by failing to raise it before PERB or the Superior Court. *See* JA 13-28, 72-75, 82-90, 118-20. Nor would the argument have merit because the CMPA authorizes the Mayor to "take whatever actions may be necessary to carry out the mission of the District government in emergency situations," D.C. Code § 1-617.08(a)(6). The vaccine-or-test requirement is plainly such an action.

In sum, AFGE has plainly forfeited any challenge to PERB's ruling that the vaccine requirement was the exercise of a sole management right. As such, the only issue on appeal is whether the now-expired COVID Emergency Act relieved the District from the CMPA's requirement that it engage in "impact and effects" bargaining. This issue is now moot.

B. AFGE's "impact and effects" claim is moot because the vaccine-ortest requirement has been lifted and the claim is not capable of repetition because it rests on an expired emergency statute.

When the vaccine-or-test requirement was lifted in September 2022, AFGE's claim became moot. *See Holley v. United States*, 442 A.2d 106, 107 (D.C. 1981)

("Where . . . an appellate decision will not affect the rights and duties of the litigants, there is no longer a live controversy."). "Although not bound strictly by the 'case or controversy' requirements of Article III of the U.S. Constitution, this [C]ourt does not normally decide moot cases." *Cropp v. Williams*, 841 A.2d 328, 330 (D.C. 2004). "Unless there is a possibility that further penalties or legal disabilities can be imposed as a result of the judgment, this [C]ourt may not render in the abstract an advisory opinion." *McClain v. United States*, 601 A.2d 80, 81 (D.C. 1992) (quoting *Holley*, 442 A.2d at 107).

Recent events have rendered this case moot for at least two reasons. *First*, the vaccine-or-test requirement has been lifted. It no longer exists. For that reason alone, an order to engage in "impact and effects" bargaining over the now-defunct mandate would be futile. This Court can therefore offer no meaningful relief, making the case moot. *See Settlemire*, 898 A.2d at 907.

Second, the statute that purportedly relieved the District of the obligation to engage in "impact and effects" bargaining has expired, further rendering the issue moot and making it unlikely to arise again in the future. PERB and AFGE agree that whether the District was required to engage in "impact and effects" bargaining rests entirely on whether the COVID Emergency Act authorized the Mayor to implement the vaccine requirement. See Br. 9 (arguing that, because the COVID Emergency Act "did not include any authority for a vaccination requirement," "the management

rights provisions [of the CMPA] required impact and implementation bargaining");
JA 6 (PERB's negotiability decision, adopting an interpretation of the COVID
Emergency Act that "'g[ave] management the sole right to take any necessary
personnel action in emergency situations," 'notwithstanding' any contradictory
provision of the CMPA"), 74 (AFGE's motion for reconsideration, arguing that
PERB misinterpreted the COVID Emergency Act because "[a] vaccination
requirement would not fall within the specific actions listed"), 87 (AFGE's Superior
Court brief, making a similar argument), 91 (PERB's Superior Court brief, arguing
that the COVID Emergency Act should be broadly interpreted to encompass the
vaccine requirement). The COVID Emergency Act expired on February 4, 2022,
making the issue moot. 68 D.C. Reg. at 4898.

Nor is the issue "capable of repetition, yet evading review." *See McClain*, 601 A.2d at 82. The public health emergency is over, making a renewed vaccine mandate unlikely. But even assuming that, in the future, a new global pandemic would prompt the Mayor to implement a new vaccine requirement, whether AFGE would be entitled to "impact and effects" bargaining would necessarily be based on whether some other provision of law, not yet in existence, excused the District from

The District did not argue below that the COVID Emergency Act relieved it from "impact and effects" bargaining over the vaccine requirement. It did, however, argue that the Act authorized the vaccine requirement by permitting the Mayor to assign "additional duties." JA 112 (quoting D.C. Code § 7-2304(b)(16)(G)).

that obligation. Even assuming that, in such a scenario, the Council would enact new emergency legislation, there is no reason to believe that it would be *identical* to the COVID Emergency Act. Thus, there is no reasonable possibility that this same question will arise in future cases.

"[T]here is no justiciable controversy if the court is asked to decide only abstract or academic issues." *Thorn v. Walker*, 912 A.2d 1192, 1195 (D.C. 2006). And nothing could be more abstract or academic than whether an expired statute should be interpreted to authorize a personnel action that is no longer in effect.

C. Alternatively, the District's obligation to bargain over the "impact and effects" of the vaccine-or-test requirement is moot because the District has already satisfied that obligation.

AFGE's "impact and effects" claim is moot for a second, independent reason: the District has already provided AFGE any relief this Court could bestow. "[I]f a party has requested no particular relief on appeal, or the appellate court can provide no effective relief, the case is moot." *Thorn*, 912 A.2d at 1195. For example, "an agency's production of all requested non-privileged documents moots a FOIA case," *FOP v. District of Columbia*, 113 A.3d 195, 199 (D.C. 2015), a party's compliance with a judgment requiring specific performance moots an appeal, *see Thorn*, 912 A.2d at 1196-97, and a prisoner's completion of his sentence moots his challenge to the denial of probation, *Smith v. United States*, 454 A.2d 1354, 1356 (D.C. 1983).

The District has already satisfied any obligation it might have had to engage in "impact and effects" bargaining over the vaccine-or-test requirement. "[U]nions enjoy the right to engage in impact and effects bargaining . . . only if they make a timely request to bargain." *FOP/MPD Labor Comm.*, slip op. No. 736 at 6; *see AFGE Loc. Union No. 383 v. D.C. Dep't of Hum. Servs.*, 49 D.C. Reg. 770, slip op. No. 418 at 4 (Mar. 29, 1995) ("The effects and impact of a non-bargainable management decision upon terms and conditions of employment . . . are bargainable only upon request.").

If, as AFGE claims, the District was required to engage in "impact and effects" bargaining over the vaccine-or-test requirement, it fully satisfied that obligation by inviting AFGE to engage in such bargaining and remaining willing to do so until AFGE explicitly rejected the offer. On August 11, 2021, the day after the Mayor issued the vaccine requirement, the District invited AFGE to participate in "impact and effects" bargaining. AR 150. AFGE responded by demanding substantive bargaining and "inform[ing] the District [that] the matter was fully negotiable as a health and safety matter." JA 14-15. The District rejected substantive bargaining but continued to offer "impact and effects" bargaining. See

<sup>&</sup>quot;In contrast, when management unilaterally and without notice implements a change in established and bargainable terms and conditions of employment, a request to bargain is not required to establish a failure to bargain in good faith." *AFGE Loc. Union No. 383*, slip op. No. 418 at 4 n.3.

JA 15-16 (AFGE's negotiability appeal, stating that the District "seeks to limit the scope of negotiation on the vaccine requirement to impact and implementation"). Then, in its "last best offer," AFGE explicitly "rejected [the District's] claim of impact and implementation." AR 30.

As discussed, in this appeal AFGE only seeks "impact and effects" bargaining. But because the District has satisfied any obligation to engage in that type of bargaining, even if this Court were to agree with AFGE's legal arguments, it cannot provide AFGE any meaningful relief. See Thorn, 912 A.2d at 1195. Indeed, AFGE conceded below that the District was willing to engage in "impact and effects" bargaining, see JA 15-16, such that even a declaratory judgment in AFGE's favor could not, for example, form the basis of an unfair labor practice claim, and would therefore amount to nothing more than an advisory opinion. See D.C. Code § 1-617.04(a)(5) (making it an "[u]nfair labor practice[]" for the District to "[r]efus[e] to bargain collectively in good faith"). Nor could AFGE demand new "impact and effects" bargaining over the vaccine-or-test requirement because the requirement no longer exists. AFGE cannot gain any meaningful relief from this appeal beyond vindication in its battle with PERB over the interpretation of the now-expired COVID Emergency Act. That is not a valid basis for this Court's See Settlemire, 898 A.2d at 907 (explaining that a "desire for intervention. vindication is . . . inadequate to show that [an] appeal is not moot").

# II. Alternatively, This Court Should Affirm PERB's Holding That The Vaccine-Or-Test Requirement Was Not Subject To Full, Substantive Bargaining Because It Was The Exercise Of A Sole Management Right.

For the reasons described, AFGE has forfeited its argument before PERB that the vaccine-or-test requirement was "fully negotiable" as a "safety and health matter." JA 16. If this Court nevertheless chooses to decide AFGE's forfeited challenge, it should affirm PERB's holding that the District was not required to engage in full, substantive bargaining because the vaccine requirement was necessary to carry out the mission of the District during the COVID-19 emergency. AFGE concedes that the District is not required to engage in substantive bargaining over any matter that falls under a sole management right. See JA 120 ("Management rights are permissive subjects of bargaining."). One such management right is "[t]o take whatever actions may be necessary to carry out the mission of the District government in emergency situations." D.C. Code § 1-617.08(a)(6). And AFGE does not challenge PERB's holding that the vaccine requirement was indeed necessary in light of the public health emergency.

PERB's decision, which is reviewed under this Court's "substantial evidence" test, *Gibson*, 785 A.2d at 1241, is amply supported by the record. The COVID-19

The District also advanced and preserved before PERB its position that the vaccine requirement constituted an exercise of its sole management rights to "maintain of . . . government operations," D.C. the efficiency Code "determine . . . internal § 1-617.08(a)(4), and security practices," id. § 1-617.08(a)(5), although PERB did not reach those grounds, see JA 5-7.

pandemic was indisputably an "emergency situation" throughout the time the vaccine requirement was in effect. When Mayor Bowser issued the vaccine-or-test requirement, "more than 35.8 million Americans ha[d] been diagnosed with COVID-19 and more than 616,000 ha[d] died from the disease." JA 29. More than 51,000 people had been infected in the District and, "tragically, 1,149 District residents ha[d] lost their lives." JA 29. And the vaccine requirement was lifted on September 14, 2022, JA 121, seven months before the federal government declared an end to the public health emergency, see Fact Sheet: End of the COVID-19 Public Health Emergency, U.S. Dep't of Health and Human Services, https://tinyurl.com/3p4e2wwe.

PERB also had more than enough evidence to find the vaccine-or-test requirement "necessary to carry out the mission of the District government." D.C. Code § 1-617.08(a)(6). When vaccines became widely available, the District "initiated an aggressive campaign to get residents and employees vaccinated," which was "the most important tool in fighting the spread of COVID-19." JA 30. Then, in July 2021, more than half of the District's workforce returned to the workplace. JA 30. At that point, it became "vital that District employees . . . be vaccinated against COVID-19 or undergo regular testing for COVID-19, to help ensure the effective and efficient operation of the District government and for their own safety, the safety of their colleagues, and the safety of those they serve." JA 30. Presented

with these undisputed facts, PERB properly found that the vaccine requirement was the exercise of a sole management right. JA 6 (citing D.C. Code § 1-617.08(a)(6)); AR 326 (same).

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